I. 	 ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The question certified to this Court by the Circuit Court of Berkeley County, West 

Virginia is as follows: 

Maya plaintiff maintain an action solely against the surety on a judgment 
bond made pursuant to W. Va. Code § 31-17-4 without a judgment against the 
principal on the bond, when the principal has filed bankruptcy, and a judgment 
against the principal is precluded due to a Chapter 11 Plan confirmation? 

The Circuit Court of Berkeley County answered the certified question as follows: 

YES, the statutory purpose of the bond is to protect consumers against 
insolvent lenders, see, W. Va. Code § 31-17-4 and the public policy of this State 
should not allow the bankruptcy of insolvent lender to shield a surety on these 
bonds from liability for the principal's actions. 

(JA000181-82.) 

A number of points of legal error arise from the circuit court's answer to the certified 

question. As further discussed in the "Summary of Argument" and "Argument" sections below, 

the circuit court's answer to the certified question: (1) ignores controlling common law and 

specific contractual conditions in the subject bond; (2) ignores the controlling statute; (3) 

overlooks critical facts in this case; and (4) overlooks substantial policy reasons for enforcement 

of the bond conditions. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The matter below arises from a mortgage loan originated in 2008 for the purchase of a 

parcel of real estate located at 3449 Poor House Road in Martinsburg, West Virginia. 

(JAOOOOOl-4.) According to the Complaint, Plaintiff below and Respondent herein, Franklin W. 

James, Jr. ("Respondent"), purchased the parcel in 2001 for $20,000, as well as a doublewide 

mobile home for $69,000 to place on the land. (JA000003.)i Unfortunately, both the parcel and 

the mobile home were sold at foreclosure in 2006. (Id.) In 2008, Respondent desired to 

I Citations to the Joint Appendix are abbreviated herein as "JA" proceeded by the applicable page number. 
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repurchase the property (i.e. both the parcel and the mobile home). (ld.) Though the home was 

not on the market, Respondent approached the owner ofthe property at the time in order to try to 

negotiate the repurchase. (ld.) Respondent and the owner agreed upon a purchase price of 

$145,000.00 for the property, despite that Respondent had paid a total of only $89,000 for the 

parcel and mobile home just a few years earlier. (ld.) 

After Respondent made this agreement, he sought to obtain a home mortgage loan. 

(JA000003-4.) Power Mortgage & Financial Solutions, Inc. ("Power Mortgage"), a mortgage 

broker and Defendant below, originated a loan for Respondent on or about December 2, 2008 for 

$151,000.00. (JA000004.) Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Mortgage Corporation ("TBW") was the 

lender; however, it is not a party to the action below due to its prior bankruptcy.2 (JA000002.) 

Defendant below, Bank of America, N.A. ("Bank of America") acquired TBW's interest in the 

loan at issue.3 Additionally, a "John Doe" holder was named as a defendant. (ld.) Respondent's 

Complaint below arises from the origination and servicing of this loan. 

The West Virginia Residential Mortgage Lender, Broker and Servicer Act, W. Va. Code 

§§ 31-17-1, et seq. (the "Act"), required that TBW obtain a mortgage lender bond. Accordingly, 

Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland, Defendant below and Petitioner herein 

("Petitioner"), is the lender's surety company under Bond No. LPM8606879 (the "Bond"). 

(JA000002,000039.) The Bond was issued on November 1, 2001 in the amount of $100,000. 

(JA000039-40.) It was increased to $250,000 by a rider effective July 1, 2009 and later 

cancelled by Notice of Cancellation dated August 6,2009. (JA000051 , 000056.) 

2 TBW filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the United States Code in the Middle District of Florida on August 

24,2009, styled Case No. 3:09-bk-07047. (JAOOOI84-85.) On July 21,2011, the Chapter 11 Plan was confinned. 

(JAOOOI84.) 

3 BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP was assigned the loan servicing rights. Bank of America is the successor to BAC 

Home Loans Servicing, LP by merger. (JA000002.) 
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Respondent maintained that certain of the defendants and TBW (despite not being named 

as a defendant in the suit) engaged in "predatory lending" practices with respect to his home 

mortgage loan and as a result brought his Complaint in the Circuit Court of Berkeley County, 

West Virginia on January 7, 2013. (JAOOOOOI-9.) Specifically, the Complaint contains counts 

for breach offiduciary duty, unconscionable inducement, illegal loan and force-placed insurance 

against the broker, the lender, the servicer and the holder arising out of the loan transaction. (/d.) 

Petitioner is named in the Complaint solely because it is the surety on the Bond. That is, 

Petitioner was not involved in the origination or servicing of Respondent's loan, and the only 

allegations in the Complaint against Petitioner relate to the Bond. (JA000002.) The Complaint 

contains no basis for an independent claim against Petitioner. 

The parties exchanged pleadings and engaged in basic discovery in the matter below. 

Then, on July 19, 2013, Petitioner filed its Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint or 

Alternatively Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis that Respondent had failed to satisfy 

the Bond's unambiguous conditions precedent for Respondent to maintain an action against 

Petitioner on the Bond. (JA000022-120.) Namely, Respondent had not, and still has not, 

obtained a judgment against the Bond principal, TBW, which is an express condition of the 

Bond. (JA000039.) As this Court recently declared, the Bond is a judgment bond created by the 

Commissioner of Banking pursuant to the express authority and unlimited discretion granted in 

W. Va. Code § 31-17-4(e)(3), and it requires a person aggrieved by the misconduct ofa principal 

to first obtain judgment against such principal, issue an execution on that judgment, and obtain 

assent from the Commissioner of Banking before maintaining an action upon the Bond. 

Respondent opposed Petitioner's motion by asking the circuit court, essentially, to read 

the above conditions precedent out of the Bond, arguing that the purpose of the statutory 
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mortgage lender bond is to provide "relief for consumers that have been defrauded or otherwise 

hanned by a defunct or bankrupt mortgage lender from whom the consumer cannot sue or obtain 

relief." (JAOOOI21-58.) 

Following briefing by the Petitioner and Respondent on Petitioner's motion (JA000022

158), the circuit court determined that the motion presented an issue of first impression in West 

Virginia and, on October 30, 2013, certified the question that is now the subject of this appeal 

(JAOOOI79-83). 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

A number of points of legal error arise from the circuit court's answer to the certified 

question. F or the reasons outlined herein and more fully discussed in the Argument section 

below, this Court should reject the circuit court's answer to the certified question. 

A. 	The circuit court's answer ignores controlling common law and specific 
contractual conditions in the Bond. 

The circuit court's answer to the certified question ignores this Court's recent decision in 

Hartford Fire Insurance Company v. Curtis, 231 W. Va. 596, 748 S.E.2d 662 (2013), as well as 

well-established contract principles and the unequivocal terms of the Bond. In Curtis, this Court 

recently analyzed the exact same bond form as the one issued by Petitioner in this matter 

(pursuant to West Virginia Code § 31-17-4) and declared the same to be a "judgment bond." 

Under a judgment bond, there can be no liability of the surety without a judgment against the 

principal. This condition precedent is unambiguously set forth in the Bond: 

If any person shall be aggrieved by the misconduct of the principal, he may upon 
recovering judgment against such principal issue execution of such judgment 
and maintain an action upon the bond of the principal in any court having 
jurisdiction of the amount claimed, provided the Commissioner of Banking 
assents thereto. 
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(JA000039) (emphasis added). It is undisputed in the case below that Respondent has not 

obtained the requisite judgment against the principal, TBW. (JA000061.) 

A bond is a contract and is subject to the general laws of contract. As such, the surety's 

liability is governed exclusively by the tenns of the applicable bond, which should be enforced 

as written. The Bond has clear conditions precedent-three, in fact-that must be satisfied 

before Respondent may maintain an action against Petitioner on the Bond. (JA000039.) This 

Court underscored these well-established principles when it held, in Curtis, that sureties like 

Petitioner contractually '''agree/d) to be liable for a judgment based on a specific statutory 

violation covered by the bond,' i.e. a violation of the West Virginia Mortgage Lender, Broker, 

and Servicer Act." (emphasis added). In proposing that claimants may maintain direct actions 

against sureties without first obtaining the mandatory judgment, the circuit court's answer to the 

certified question is directly contrary to the authority of this Court set forth in Hartford Fire 

Insurance Company v. Curtis, the plain language of the Bond, and the most basic and well

settled ofcontract principles applicable to judgment bonds. 

B. The circuit court's answer ignores the controlling statute. 

The Bond at issue was required pursuant to the West Virginia Residential Mortgage 

Lender, Broker, and Servicer Act. Specifically, West Virginia Code § 31-17-4 provides as 

follows: 

(e) At the time of making application for a lender's license, the applicant therefor 
shall: ... (3) File with the commissioner a bond in favor of the state for the 
benefit of consumers or for a claim by the commissioner for an unpaid civil 
administrative penalty or an unpaid examination invoice ... in a form and with 
conditions as the commissioner may prescribe . .. [.] 

W. Va. Code § 31-17-4(e)(3) (emphasis added). While the controlling statutory section 

generally provides the bond is for the benefit of consumers, it specifically provides unlimited 
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authority and discretion to the Commissioner of Banking with regard to the applicable fonn, 

tenns and conditions of the mandated bond. In his broad and exclusive discretion, the 

Commissioner determined that a judgment and execution along with consent from the 

Commissioner were appropriate conditions of the Bond, without exception. This Court affinned 

the Commissioner's authority in this regard, in Curtis, when it held that "[t]he foregoing statutes 

specifying that the Banking Commissioner prepare a bond fonn placeD no limitations on the 

Commissioner's authority to prescribe the terms applicable to said bonds." (emphasis added). 

Thus, by reading out of the Bond a clear condition precedent prescribed by the Commissioner, 

the circuit court's answer not only ignores the express language ofW. Va. Code § 31-17-4, but 

also ignores the unlimited authority this Court acknowledged in Curtis. 

As noted above, the statute does contain general language providing that one of the 

purposes of the mandated bond is "for the benefit of consumers." Respondent hangs his hat on 

this generic phrase in arguing below that the prescribed bond ''undermine[ s] the intent of the 

statute requiring the bond." (JAOOOI24,000127.) However, Respondent has failed to pinpoint 

any authority or documented legislative history that support this conclusory statement. Even if 

this general statement of purpose could be read to conflict with the specific grant of authority to 

the Commissioner to prescribe the fonn and conditions of the mandated bond, there is no 

question that "specific statutory provisions take precedence over general statutory provisions 

when the two read together create an ambiguity." 

. Respondent's and the circuit court's position requires this Court to rewrite the Bond to 

eliminate the express conditions mandated by the Commissioner of Banking within the broad 

discretion specifically granted under the statute, which is inappropriate. 
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c. The circuit court's answer overlooks critical facts in this case. 

In any event, the condition precedent of the Bond requiring a judgment before action 

against the surety does not actually even operate to the detriment of Respondent. The circuit 

court's answer misses this point by overlooking critical facts in the case. 

In his brief below, Respondent repeatedly misrepresents that he has no ability whatsoever 

to recover for TBW's alleged wrongdoing outside of a direct action against Petitioner without 

first obtaining a judgment against TBW. (JAOOOI23, 000129-30.) To the contrary, even where a 

Chapter 11 Plan has been confirmed, a claimant could pursu~and in this case Respondent has, 

in fact, pursued-a claim against the bankrupt principal's successor in interest to the loan as a 

means to recover the alleged loss. Bank of America is alleged to have acquired TBW's interest 

in the servicing rights to loan at issue. Although Bank of America is only the servicer, the 

Complaint asserts claims against Bank of America in Counts II and III premised on TBW's 

alleged misconduct with regard to the loan's origination. Respondent has reached a settlement 

with Bank of America, which based on the allegations in the Complaint, at least in part, settled 

the claims against Bank of America arising from TBW's alleged misconduct. (JA000002, 

000174.) 

Moreover, Respondent has asserted various claims against the John Doe holder arising 

from TBW's alleged misconduct. To the extent this loan was assigned to a different holder prior 

to TBW's bankruptcy filing, TBW's subsequent bankruptcy case and confirmed Chapter 11 plan 

would have no impact on any claims Respondent may assert against the holder as the assignee or 

successor-in-interest to TBW. Thus, Respondent not only can obtain, but in fact has already 

obtained, relief for the alleged wrongdoing of TBW outside of a direct action against Petitioner. 

As such, the condition precedent has not harmed Respondent and should be enforced. In fact, 
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allowing Respondent to recover against Bank of America and/or the John Doe holder and then 

recover against Petitioner under the Bond would be an impennissible double recovery. 

Moreover, Respondent sat on his rights with regard to obtaining judgment specifically 

against TBW. That is, Respondent had the chance to bring his claims against TBW itself in 

TBW's bankruptcy proceeding, but failed to do so. The events allegedly giving rise to 

Respondent's suit below occurred in or around late 2008 through early 2009. (JA000003-4.) 

TBW did not file for bankruptcy until August 24, 2009, such that Respondent had knowledge of 

his potential claim before TBW's bankruptcy even commenced. (JAOOOI85.) The Order 

confirming the Chapter 11 Plan in the bankruptcy expressly provides that "[t]he notice by 

publication of the Bar Date was reasonably calculated to reach all unknown Creditors. 

Furthermore, the notice reasonably conveyed all the required information and permitted a 

reasonable time for response." (JA000208-09) (emphasis added). Once Respondent learned of 

TBW's bankruptcy filing, he could have filed a proof of claim to preserve his claim, filed an 

adversary proceeding, or moved to have the automatic stay lifted to pursue a state-court action. 

Instead, he did nothing. Allowing Respondent the extraordinary remedy of a direct action 

against Petitioner without a judgment against the principal, where the same is clearly contrary to 

the terms of the Bond, is not warranted where Respondent did not avail himself of the 

opportunity to obtain judgment against the principal. 

Because the circuit court's answer is premised on the incorrect assumption that 

Respondent cannot obtain any relief for the alleged wrongdoing of TBW, and because it 

encourages claimants to sit on their rights, this Court should reject it. 
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D. The circuit court's answer overlooks substantial policy reasons for enforcement 
of the Bond conditions. 

The conditions precedent of the Bond-consisting of judgment, execution and assent of 

the Commissioner of Banking-are grounded in sound public policy similar to that which the 

United States Supreme Court explained in United States for Use and Benefit ofMidland Loan 

Finance Company v. National Surety Corporation, 309 U.S. 165, 60 S. Ct. 458 (1940). In that 

case, a unanimous United States Supreme Court found that claims made under a statutory 

postmaster's bond could not be permitted without the consent of the United States because of the 

potential for the surety to be exposed to numerous claims on the bond and the government's 

substantial interest. ld. at 173, 462 (addressing the consequences of granting a large class the 

right to claim against a federal statutory bond). It is for these same policy reasons that the 

unambiguous requirements in the statutory Bond at issue in this case-recovery of judgment, 

execution on the judgment and the assent of the Commissioner-are in place. (JA000039.) 

Additionally, if this Court were to accept Respondent's and the circuit court's position 

and allow for a direct action against sureties without the judgment expressly required by the 

Bond, then sureties like Petitioner will be at an especially unfair disadvantage. This is because 

this Court also held, in CurtiS, that sureties may not assert their principals' defenses pursuant to 

w. Va. Code § 45-1-3 in suits on judgment bonds. The practical effect of this holding from 

Curtis, when combined with the circuit court's position, is that sureties would be conclusively 

bound by a judgment bond but arguably unable to assert the principal's defenses when a 

consumer brings a direct action on the bond. This dilemma worsens when coupled with the fact 

that the circuit court's position actually encourages claimants to sit idly by during principals' 

bankruptcies and instead bring, more conveniently, direct actions against sureties. The increased 

00351 124.DOCX 9 



risk to sureties and resulting increased costs for everyone is reason enough to reject this result as 

against public policy. 

Based on the foregoing, and for all the reasons further discussed in the Argument section 

below, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court answer the certified question in the 

negative. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

This matter presents a novel issue of West Virginia law not directly addressed by this 

Court. This legal issue is presented in a total of five cases currently pending, including this case, 

in relation to the bond of TBW.4 In addition to these five cases against the TBW bond, other 

sureties like Petitioner in civil actions involving different bond principals have an interest in the 

resolution of this issue regarding the mortgage lenderlbroker bond. Because this matter presents 

an important and wide-reaching issue of first impression, it is appropriate for Rule 20 oral 

argument under the West Virginia Rules ofAppellate Procedure. 

V. ARGUMENT 

The standard of review applicable to the certified question in this matter is de novo. See 

Syi. Pt. 1, Wilson v. Bernet, 218 W. Va. 628, 625 S.E.2d 706 (2005) (quoting Syi. Pt. 1, 

Gallapoo v. Wai-Mart Stores, Inc., 197 W. Va. 172, 475 S.E.2d 172 (1996» ('''The appellate 

standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is de novo. "'). 

As such, no special deference is accorded to the circuit court's answer to the certified question, 

and this Court may review and decide the issue anew. See, e.g., State ex rei. Oriofske v. City of 

4 Those cases are: Jon Staats v. Fidelity and Deposit Company ofMaryland, Civil Action No. 08-C-3407 (Circuit 
Court of Kanawha County); Carol Hays v. Bank ofAmerica, NA., Civil Action No. 13-C-573 (Circuit Court of 
Kanawha County); Charles Kerns v. Fidelity and Deposit Company of Mary1land, 12-C-739 (Circuit Court of 
Berkeley County) (stayed); Franklin W. James, Jr. v. Bank ofAmerica, NA., Civil Action No. 13-C-4 (Circuit Court 
of Berkeley County); and Richard E. Cotta et al. v. Fidelity and Deposit Company ofMaryland, Civil Action 2: 13
cv-24894 (United States District Court for Southern District of West Virginia) (Johnston, J.) (stayed). 
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Wheeling, 212 W. Va. 538, 542, 575 S.E.2d 148, 152 (2002); Pritt v. Republican National 

Committee, 210 W. Va. 446, 451,557 S.E.2d 853, 858 (2001). "When a certified question is not 

framed so that this Court is able to fully address the law which is involved in the question, then 

this Court retains the power to refonnulate questions certified to it under both the Unifonn 

Certification of Questions of Law Act found in W. Va. Code, 51-lA-I, et seq. and W. Va. Code,

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