I. CERTIFIED QUESTION 

The question certified to this Court by the Circuit Court ofBerkeley County, West Virginia, 

is as follows: 

Maya plaintiff maintain an action solely against the surety on a judgment 
bond made pursuant to W. Va. Code § 31-17-4 without a judgment against the 
principal on the bond, when the principal has filed bankruptcy, and a judgment 
against the principal is precluded due to a Chapter 11 Plan confirmation? 

The Circuit Court of Berkeley County provided the following answer to the certified

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Fidelity advances four arguments in response to the Circuit Court of Berkeley County's 

answer to the certified question. However, each argument ignores the purpose of the bond 
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provisions ofthe Mortgage Act and general principles ofsurety law. Ifthis Court adopts the position 

of Fidelity, a majority of West Virginia consumers victimized by predatory lending practices 

between 2000 and 2012 will be denied compensation from the surety under the statutory bond. As 

a practical matter, consumers are usually unable to obtain service on defunct lenders and cannot sue 

bankrupt lenders, especially when the confirmation order has been entered by the bankruptcy court. 

The bond provisions ofthe Mortgage Act exist for the precise purpose ofprotecting West Virginia 

consumers in these situations. Indeed, the West Virginia Legislature created the bond remedy to 

protect consumers from the very situation before this Court. This statutory bond, for which Fidelity 

is surety, provides relief for consumers who have been defrauded or otherwise harmed by a bankrupt 

mortgage lender from which the consumer cannot obtain relief, nor even sue. This Court must 

therefore affirm Judge Wilkes' answer to the certified question. 

Fidelity relies on Hartford Fire Insurance Company v. Curtis, _ W. Va. _, 748 S.E.2d 662, 

672 (2013), in claiming that consumers must obtain ajudgment against the principal before obtaining 

relief against the surety because this Court found the bond at issue to be a ''judgment bond." 

However, this characterization does not preclude a consumer from seeking direct relief against the 

surety under a theory ofjoint and several liability. The bond explicitly states that TBW and Fidelity 

are "jointly and severally" liable for the "misconduct of the principal." (JA000039.) As such, 

Fidelity has direct and primary liability for the misconduct ofTB W and may be sued independently 

of TBW. Hence, the judgment bond label does not preclude a consumer's ability to obtain relief 

against a surety directly when a principal is bankrupt and judgment proof. 

Moreover, Curtis, in which the plaintiffs were able to obtain judgment on the principal, 

represents the exception to the frequently occurring case where no service or judgment is possible 
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because the principal in Curtis, though recalcitrant, was still in operation. In the majority of cases, 

however, the principal has either become defunct or bankrupt and no service is possible. Under these 

common scenarios, a consumer's only avenue relief for the principal's misconduct is to bring direct 

suit against the surety. Moreover, because the surety is jointly and severally liable for the 

misconduct of its principal, the surety may assert defenses to the principal's misconduct. The 

holding in Curtis does not conflict with Judge Wilkes' answer to the certified question.2 

Furthermore, allowing direct suit against the surety does not interfere with the Commissioner 

of Banking's discretion. The Mortgage Act requires all mortgage lenders operating in the state to 

obtain a bond "for the benefit of consumers." W. Va. Code § 31-17 -4( e )(3). It is clear from this 

statutory language that the West Virginia Legislature intended that the bond be available so that 

consumers could obtain relief from bankrupt lenders. In recognition of this legislative intent, the 

Commissioner reformed the required bond form in 2012 by adding the following clarification: 

If any person shall be aggrieved by the misconduct of the principal, he may upon 
recovering judgment against such principal issue execution of such judgment and 
maintain an action upon the bond of the principal in any court having jurisdiction of 
the amount claimed, provided that a judgment against the principal shall not be 

2 The Amicus Curiae brief filed by the Surety & Fidelity Association ofAmerica ("SF AA"), 
asks this Court to reverse Curtis and rule that the bond at issue is not a judgment bond. (Amicus 
Curiae Br. at 8.) It should be noted that counsel for the SFAA was counsel for Hartford Fire 
Insurance Company in Curtis. After this Court issued its decision in Curtis on June 5, 2013, 
Hartford brought suit against the originating lender in the United States District Court for the Eastern 
District of Virginia. See Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. Shumway, No.1 : 13-cv-939 (E.D. Va. 2013) on 
August 1,2013. Upon information and belief, the lender agreed to pay the entire default judgment 
from Curtis and Hartford's attorney fees and expenses in the Eastern District of Virginia action. 

It is uncommon for an existing entity to simply refuse to defend itself against a lawsuit, as 
was the case in Curtis. This scenario would be very infrequent. The SF AA seeks to wipe out the 
vast majority ofall surety liability by its position here. The alleged concerns expressed by the SF AA 
must therefore be taken with a grain of salt. 
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required to maintain action on this bond ifthe principal is no longer in operation 
or hasftledfor bankruptcy. 

(App. A to Amicus Curiae) (emphasis added). The refonnation of the bond establishes the 

Commissioner's recognition that Fidelity's reading of the earlier bond requirements is inconsistent 

with the legislative intent of the Mortgage Act. 

Fidelity also claims that the circuit court allegedly overlooks the fact that Mr. James could 

obtain relief for TBW's misconduct from the other parties in the case. Fidelity believes it should be 

entitled to a credit or setoff to settlement with other parties so that Mr. James does not obtain an 

alleged "double recovery." (Pet. 's Br. at 8.) Fidelity points to the settlement Mr. James reached with 

Bank ofAmerica, N.A. ("BANA"), the servicer ofthe mortgage account, to support its position that 

Mr. James can obtain relief for TBW's misconduct from its alleged assignee, in this case BANA.3 

However, Fidelity fails to present facts establishing that BANA settled claims arising from an injury 

sustained by TBW's misconduct. To be clear, Mr. James did not suffer a single, indivisible loss 

based on the combined actions of the defendants in the case below. For example, the Complaint 

specifically sets forth a claim against BANA for post-origination debt collection abuse in connection 

with force-placing insurance to the mortgage account. (JA00008.) This constitutes a separate injury 

to Mr. James that shares no similarities with the illegal loan origination conducted by TBW. 

Furthennore, even an assignee may have limited fault in the context ofthe case, thus precluding Mr. 

James from obtaining full recovery for his injuries. Fidelity may not claim that Mr. James can be 

made whole from his settlement with BANA when Fidelity is the party directly responsible for 

3 BANA is not the successor-in-interest to TBW because it did not take over TBW's 
business operations. Cf. Davis v. Celotex Com., 187 W. Va. 566,420 S.E.2d 557 (1992). BANA 
is solely the assignee ofTBW's servicing rights to the mortgage contract. (See JA000002.) 
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TBW's misconduct. Moreover, any issues of setoff are best resolved after judgment and have no 

bearing on the question before this Court, which only relates to a consumer's ability to directly sue 

a surety. 

Fidelity additionally asserts that Mr. James "sat on his rights" and failed to pursue a claim 

against TBW in its bankruptcy in the Middle District of Florida. (Pet.'s Br. at 8.) TBW filed for 

bankruptcy on August 24,2009, and Mr. James filed his Complaint on January 7, 2013. As Fidelity 

is well aware, Mr. James did not learn of the factual basis for his legal claims until shortly before he 

filed his Complaint in early 2013, thus leaving him with no opportunity to obtain relief from TBW. 

(See JAOOOOO 1-9.) Furthermore, Mr. James is an unsophisticated consumer residing in Martinsburg, 

West Virginia. (See JAOOOOOI-9.) The practical impact of requiring Mr. James to hire a Florida 

attorney to pursue a claim in the Florida bankruptcy-before he even knew the claim 

existed-directly contradicts the statutory requirement for mortgage lenders to obtain a bond "for 

the benefit of consumers." W. Va. Code § 3I-I7-4(e)(3). In fact, TBW's Chapter 11 plan was 

confirmed over the objection of other consumers who tried to bring claims against it in the 

bankruptcy. (See JAOOOI95.) This demonstrates the hopelessness faced by individual consumers 

who bring a claim against a lender in a liquidating Chapter 11 plan, who are denied any chance of 

obtaining relief. After the Chapter 11 plan was confirmed on July 21, 2011, TBW was discharged 

from liability for all claims arising before the confirmation date. Hence, direct suit against Fidelity, 

as surety for TBW, is the only method of guaranteeing that Mr. James can be made whole from his 

injury arising from the illegal loan origination. 

Finally, Fidelity argues that consumers should not be allowed to pursue direct claims against 

sureties as a matter of public policy. To the contrary, public policy overwhelmingly supports a 
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consumer's ability to bring direct suit against a surety for the misconduct of a bankrupt lender like 

TBW. This statutory bond, for which Fidelity is surety, provides relieffor consumers who have been 

defrauded or otherwise harmed by a bankrupt mortgage lender from whom the consumer cannot sue 

or obtain relief. In recognition of this public policy, the Commissioner of Banking reformed the 

language in the statutory bond to make clear that the bond allows consumers to bring suit directly 

against sureties such as Fidelity when the principal is insolvent or in bankruptcy. Given these facts, 

there is no question that public policy supports a consumer's ability to obtain reliefdirectly from ~he 

surety under these circumstances. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondent Franklin W. James, Jr., believes oral argument is unnecessary for this matter 

because the issue before this Court has been authoritatively decided by other West Virginia courts 

pursuant to Rule 18(a)(3) ofthe Rules ofAppellate Procedure. If this Court wishes to conduct oral 

argument, however, such argument would be appropriate pursuant to Rule 19(a)(4) of the Rules of 

Appellate Procedure because of the narrow legal issue presented. Oral argument would also be 

appropriate pursuant to Rule 20(a)(2) ofthe Rules ofAppellate Procedure because a decision on this 

issue will affect the rights of consumers throughout the State of West Virginia. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of review. 

The appellate standard of review for questions of law certified and answered by a circuit 

court is de novo. See Syl. Pt. 1, Wilson v. Bernet, 218 W. Va. 628, 625 S.E.2d 706 (2005). The 

Court may reformulate the certified question in instances where it does not fully address the law at 

issue. See Syl. Pt. 2, Traders Bank v. Dils, 226 W. Va. 691, 704 S.E.2d 691 (2010). The question 
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at issue in this case is framed so as to fully address the issue before this Court and reformulation is 

not necessary. 

B. 	 The circuit court's answer is supported by the law (including the Curtis ruling) 
and the purpose of the statutory bond. 

The Mortgage Act requires all mortgage lenders operating in the state to obtain a bond "for 

the benefit ofconsumers." W. Va. Code § 31-17-4(e)(3). The bond at issue identifies TBW as the 

principal/lender and Fidelity as the surety and states that TBW and Fidelity are "jointly and 

severally" liable for the "misconduct of the principal." (JA000039.) A "surety" is defined as one 

who "is primarily liable for paying another's debt or perfonning another's obligation." Black's 

Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009) (emphasis added). Fidelity therefore has direct and primary liability 

for the debt or misconduct of the principal, TBW. See, e.g., Pres. & Directors of Georgetown 

College v. Madden, 660 F.2d 91, 95 (4th Cir. 1981); Gateway Communications, Inc. v. John R. 

Hess. Inc., 208 W. Va. 505, 509, 541 S.E.2d 595, 599 (2000); U.S. Fideli~ and Ouar. Co. v. 

Hathaway, 183 W. Va. 165, 168, 394 S.E.2d 764, 767 (1990) ("In a contract of suretyship the 

obligation of the principal and his surety is original, primary and direct and the surety is liable for 

the debt, default or miscarriage of his principal."); see also C.J.S. Principal and Surety § 77. 

Importantly, judgment against a principal is not required to obtain judgment against the 

surety. See, e.g., Feigenbaum v. Ouaracini, 952 A.2d 511, 518 (N.J. Super. A.D. 2008)("Underthe 

suretyship contract, the surety assumes a direct and primary obligation .... Accordingly, an obligee 

may bypass the primary obligor and enforce the obligation directly against the surety.") (citations 

and quotations omitted); John W. Egan Co .. Inc. v. Major Const. Mgmt. Corp., 709 N.E.2d 66,69 

(Mass. App. Ct. 1999) ("It follows that the creditor need not go to judgment against the principal in 

order to ground the surety's liability toward the creditor; the creditor may sue both principal and 
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surety in one action (as in the present case) or sue each individually."); Cruz-Mendez v. 

ISU/Insurance Services of San Francisco, 722 A.2d 515,523 (N.J. 1999) ("An obligee may bypass 

the primary obligor and enforce the obligation directly against the surety."); Board of Sup'rs of 

Fairfax County v. SentIy Ins., 391 S.E.2d 273,274 (Va. 1990) ("[T]he right to sue the surety under 

the bond exists independently ofthe right to sue the principal."); Katz v. Innovator ofAmerica, Inc., 

552 So.2d 724, 726 (La. App. 1989) ("However, the accessorial nature ofthe contract ofsurety does 

not obligate the creditor to first proceed against the principal debtor rather than the surety to enforce 

a debt."). As a result, under clearly established law, Fidelity is jointly and severally liable to Mr. 

James for the wrongs committed by TBW, up to the amount of the bond. Because Fidelity, as the 

surety, assumed a primary or direct obligation under the bond, Mr. James may recover directly 

against Fidelity. Several West Virginia courts have considered this issue and confirmed that direct 

suit against the surety is permissible. See, e.g., Miller v. WV Mortgage Store COW., No. 12-C-253 

(H) (Fayette Co. Cir. Ct. W. Va., Dec. 31,2012); Lester v. The Bank ofNew York, No. 09-C-477 

(Mercer Co. Cir. Ct., W. Va. Aug. 19,2011); Jenkinsv. Citimortgage, Inc., AP 2:11-ap-02008 (Bkr. 

S.D.W. Va. Aug. 3, 2011); Stayer v. Litton Loan Serv .. LP, No. 08-c-3157 (Kan. Co. Cir. Ct., Aug. 

18, 2010); Smith v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 2:IO-cv-709 (S.D. W. Va. Sept. 13, 2010) 

(JA000132-149.) 

Despite this weight of authority, Fidelity argues that Mr. James may maintain an action 

against the bond only after obtaining judgment against TBW. Fidelity cites to Hartford Fire 

Insurance Company v. Curtis, _ W. Va. _ , 748 S.E.2d 662, in support of this argument, 

claiming that this Court's ruling that the bond at issue is a judgment bond requires that Mr. James 

must first obtain judgment against TBW before bringing suit against Fidelity. Curtis, however, did 
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not address the issue before this Court: whether a surety can be sued directly when the principal is 

bankrupt. Importantly, Curtis does not require a consumer to obtain default judgment against a 

principal before pursuing the surety. The opinion simply establishes that in the event that a consumer 

obtains an enforceable judgment order against a principal, the judgment is binding on the surety. _ 

W. Va. at_, 748 S.E.2d at 674. Indeed, Curtis explicitly recognizes that a surety may be sued in 

an initial action regarding the lender's misconduct. _ W. Va. at _ , 748 S.E.2d at 671 ("[a] 

consumer can only make a claim upon the surety when he has obtained a judgment against the 

principal, or when he sues them together in the same suit." (quoting Howze v. Surety Corp. ofAm., 

584 S.W.2d 263,265 (Tex. 1979»). This stands to reason, given that the statute was devised to 

protect consumers in the event that a mortgage broker or lender becomes bankrupt or defunct. See 

W. Va. § 31-17-4. This interpretation of Curtis aligns with the actual language of the bond, which 

identifies TBW as the principal and Fidelity as the surety and states that TBW and Fidelity are 

"jointly and severally" liable for the "misconduct ofthe principal." (JA00003 9.) Nothing in the bond 

language prohibits direct suit against the surety. Furthermore, the right to maintain an action against 

a principal exists independently of the right to maintain an action against a surety, and thus a 

claimant may sue the surety individually. See 72 C.J.S. Principal and Surety § 191. 

Despite the fact that Curtis clearly does not prohibit direct suit against a surety, the Amicus 

Curiae brief filed by the Surety & Fidelity Association of America ("SF AA") asks this Court to 

reverse Curtis and rule that the bond at issue is not ajudgment bond. (Amicus Curiae Br. at 8.) In 

support of its position, the SF AA cites to cases allegedly stating that an individual must have an 

enforceable judgment against a principal in order to recover against a surety. (Amicus Curiae Br.

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